IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SIDO. WHITE

JUL 14 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

GWENDOLYN GOLDEN YOUNG, as Personal Representative of WILLISHA GOLDEN YOUNG, Deceased.

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: 85,707

ST. VINCENT'S MEDICAL CENTER, INC., d/b/a ST. VINCENT'S MEDICAL CENTER; and/or d/b/a FAMILY MEDICAL CENTER,

Respondent.

BRIEF FOR THE PETITIONER

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District State of Florida

BROWN, TERRELL, HOGAN, ELLIS, MCCLAMMA & YEGELWEL, P.A.

James T. Terrell, Esq.
Florida Bar No.: 106212

Annette J. Ritter, Esq.
Florida Bar No.: 823181

Michael S. Sharrit, Esq.
Florida Bar No.: 936073

804 Blackstone Building

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Is a viable, eight and one-half month-old, unborn child, who dies due to negligence a "person" within the context of Florida's Wrongful Death Statute?

If not,

2. Does the common law of Florida provide a remedy for the wrongful death of a viable, eight and one-half month-old, unborn child who dies due to negligence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 24, 1993, the Plaintiff-Petitioner, Gwendolyn Young, as personal representative of the estate of her deceased daughter, Willisha Young, filed her amended complaint against the Respondent, St. Vincent's Medical Center. (R. 115). The complaint alleged negligent prenatal care and resulting wrongful death of her unborn daughter, Willisha Young. (R. 119-122).

On April 15, 1993, St. Vincent's Medical Center filed its motion for final summary judgment and alternative motion to dismiss the amended complaint. (R. 124). On May 27, 1993, Judge Virginia Beverly of the Fourth Judicial Circuit in and for Duval County granted summary final judgment in favor of St. Vincent's Medical Center. (R. 140). Gwendolyn Young appealed the Circuit Court's final summary judgment order. (R. 143).

On November 29, 1994, the First District Court of Appeal entertained oral arguments. The Court filed its opinion on April 24, 1995. The First District affirmed the Circuit Court's ruling but certified the question (See, p. 1) to the Florida Supreme Court as being of great public importance. Gwendolyn Young filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of Supreme Court on May 8, 1995. This Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction but requested briefs on the merits.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 30, 1989, Gwendolyn Young discovered she was pregnant with twins (R. 117). She chose St. Vincent's Medical Center for her prenatal care and for the delivery of her children (R. 117). From November 1 through November 23, 1989, Gwendolyn experienced premature labor pains (R. 118). She was hospitalized at St. Vincent's and given medications to stop her labor (R. 118). Throughout this time, Gwendolyn felt regular, strong and consistent movement by both of her babies (R. 118). As of November 23, 1989, both babies were normal and healthy (R. 118).

On November 23, 1989, Gwendolyn was admitted to St. Vincent's for continued premature labor (R. 118). An amniocentesis was recommended to determine lung maturity of both babies (R. 118).

A doctor-in-training twice attempted to withdraw amniotic fluid. On both attempts he erroneously stuck the needle into either Willisha's placenta or into Willisha herself (R. 118). Because of these puncture wounds, bleeding began. When the doctor-in-training withdrew his needles, they were full of blood (R. 118). These bloody needles were observed by Gwendolyn and later by a nurse on duty (R. 118).

Having failed to successfully perform the test, the amniocentesis procedure was turned over to and completed by a fully-trained attending physician (R. 118). The amniocentesis

¹An amniocentesis is performed by inserting a long needle into the mother's abdomen near her navel and withdrawing and testing fluid from the sack surrounding the baby. Under normal circumstances, this fluid is clear in appearance. This procedure must be performed separately on twins.

results, returned that same day, showed both babies' lungs were mature and indicated both babies would survive if delivered promptly (R. 118). No testing was performed to see if Willisha was bleeding due to the needle sticks (R. 120). Instead of having a Cesarean section delivery immediately following the amniocentesis, as the physicians had informed Gwendolyn they were going to do, Gwendolyn was transferred out of labor and delivery and discharged home (R. 118).

On November 25, 1989, the day after her discharge, Gwendolyn Young began to have labor pains again (R. 118). She returned to St. Vincent's. During labor, both babies were placed on fetal monitors. These were the same fetal monitors used two days previously during the amniocentesis. Although one of the two monitors had been tagged as "not functioning properly" during the amniocentesis, (R. 121) it was applied to Willisha throughout labor (R. 120). Hours later, St. Vincent's employees realized Willisha's heart monitor was non-functional and she had no heart rate (R. 121).

An emergency Cesarean section was then performed, and the twins were delivered (R. 118). Both babies' gestational ages were 34 weeks (8 1/2 months) (R. 119). In 1989, babies with a 34-week gestational age had a survival rate of approximately 98% in Jacksonville or similar communities (R. 119). Willisha Young was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Dr. Maclyn E. Wade, in his affidavit, testified Willisha was a person capable of independent survival outside her mother's womb on November 25, 1989 (i.e. viable) and would have survived but for the negligence of her health care providers (R. 20).

a viable, perfectly-formed, fully-developed baby and was a person (R. 119), but she did not experience a "live birth" due to her medical providers' negligence. Her smaller twin sister, Jessica, was and is healthy, hearty and active, and will soon celebrate her sixth birthday (R. 119).

Gwendolyn Young selected St. Vincent's because it had promulgated, publicized and advanced its views as a Catholic hospital that life begins at conception; all persons, born and unborn, have the same rights; and it opposed sterilization and abortion (R. 117). It was Gwendolyn's understanding she and her children would be treated with dignity as human beings before and after birth; her children would be afforded all reasonable and available medical and hospital care; and all persons, born or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Jessica's birth weight was five pounds, eight ounces. Willisha weighed five pounds, twelve ounces (R. 119).

<sup>&#</sup>x27;St. Vincent's was managed, operated and controlled by the Daughters of Charity, an order of Catholic nuns, and had widely publicized its affiliation with the Catholic Church. (R. 116). On June 28, 1974, Pope Paul VI ratified an order in which it was written: ". . . respect for human life is called for from the time this process of generation begins. From the time the ovum is fertilized, a life has begun which is neither that of the father nor of the mother; it is rather the life of a new human being . . . " (R. 116).

St. Vincent's is now taking a position diametrically opposed to its well-known and well-publicized religious tenets that life begins at conception. This Catholic dogma would oblige St. Vincent's to acknowledge Willisha was a person with all the rights vested at all times material to this action. The hospital has admitted:

<sup>(1)</sup> Willisha, as of the date of conception, was a person who had not yet been born.

<sup>(2)</sup> Willisha, as of the date of the amniocentesis of November 23, 1989, was a person who had not yet been born.

<sup>(3)</sup> Willisha, as of November 25, 1989, at 1:00 p.m., was a person who had not yet been born (Attached to R. 128-139).

unborn, would be afforded equal rights (R. 117).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner, Gwendolyn Young, should be permitted to pursue a wrongful death action on behalf of her daughter, Willisha.

Florida is now in the dwindling minority of states (seven) which have failed to interpret the word "person," as used in the Wrongful Death Act, to include a viable, unborn child. Thirty-seven sister states have systematically overruled old, outdated decisions which precluded wrongful death actions for unborn children. Five states have not addressed the issue but arguably would be persuaded by the logic that has prevailed in the above thirty-seven states. "The recognition of a fetus as a person is most consistent with current human experience and knowledge concerning fetal development and the ability of the fetus to survive independently of the mother." Young v. St. Vincent's Medical Center, Inc., 20 FLW D1020 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995).

Both our medical and legal communities recognize that prior to birth, mother and child are two separate beings. Each is treated as a separate patient, and a duty of reasonable care is owed to each. As technology advances, a child is capable of life independent of the mother at an increasingly younger age. Medical experts can determine the age at which a child can sustain life. If a child is capable of sustaining life independently, the arbitrary legal prerequisite of a live birth before a wrongful death action will lie, has no rationale, and must be abandoned.

The current Florida interpretation of the word "person" as it relates to the Wrongful Death Act directly conflicts with the

overall legislative goal of protecting the unborn child, as evidenced by other laws. Specifically, with regard to criminal manslaughter, an unborn child qualifies as a "person" in Florida, and rights of the unborn are evident in the statutory laws of probate. Ironically, under present Florida law, a child may have a cause of action for injuries received while in the womb, yet no remedy if the ultimate injury ... death ... occurs. The tortfeasor who kills a child before delivery is immune from suit but held accountable if an injured child survives, if only for a moment.

This Honorable Court has the ability and duty to shape the common law. Wrongful death actions are a fundamental part of the common law, and this Court is empowered to recognize a cause of action for the wrongful death of an unborn child.

It has long been erroneously assumed that since the legislature created the wrongful death action, this Court does not have the authority to make modifications. In recent decisions, the United States Supreme Court and other courts have pointed out the fallacy of this assumption. These courts have recognized the remedy of wrongful death to be a common law right, and have extended the remedy to the unborn. Moreover, the Florida Legislature did not intend to preclude judicial intervention in the field of wrongful death. Florida courts have previously defined rights and parties under the Act.

#### ARGUMENT

I. MODERN LAW AND MEDICINE RECOGNIZE A VIABLE UNBORN CHILD IS A PERSON.

It seems to me that it is a violation of the living spirit of the law to adhere to an ancient rule which has no pragmatic application to the realities of today. A precedent in law, in order to be binding, should appeal to logic and a genuine sense of justice. What lends dignity to the law founded on precedent is that, if analyzed, the particularly cited case wields authority by the shear force of its self-integrated honesty, integrity and rationale. A precedent . . . should not control if its strength depends alone on the fact that it is old, but may crumble at the slightest probing touch of instinctive reason and natural justice.

Bosley v. Andrews, 393 Pa. 161, 183, 142 A.2d 263, 274 (1958) (Musmanno, J., dissenting).

Unless this court will abandon an ancient rule which has "... no pragmatic application to the realities of today ..."

Id., a child in Florida, capable of independent survival but not yet born, is not a "person". A tortfeasor, including an attending physician, can cause its death with no civil responsibility. This illogical and unjust precedent leaves Florida in the dwindling minority of states (seven) still clinging to the notion a live birth is the defining point for being a person.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Stokes v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, 213 So.2d 695 (Fla. 1968); Davis v. Simpson, 313 So.2d 796 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); Stern v. Miller, 348 So.2d 303 (Fla. 1977); Duncan v. Flynn, 358 So.2d 178 (Fla. 1978); Hernandez v. Garwood, 390 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1980).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Thirty-four state courts have judicially created a cause of action permitting recovery for the death of a stillborn child. Three state legislatures have created a statutory cause of action.

Florida's refusal, to date, to recognize a viable, unborn child is a person under the Wrongful Death Act is one of the ancient artifacts Judge Musmanno criticized. That legal position flies in the face of the weight of modern authority, it ignores modern medical realities, and defies the legislative intent as set out in the Act.

A. Thirty-seven states recognize the right to recover for the wrongful death of a viable, unborn child.

In his concurring opinion in the case at bar, Judge Mickle summarizes the reasoning which led thirty-seven states to acknowledge a viable, unborn child is a person:

Recognizing that actions are almost universally allowed for prenatal injuries, foreign courts have concluded that it would be irrational to prohibit recovery for a more severe injury causing the death of a fetus. Developing in these foreign jurisdictions is the notion that the recognition of a fetus as a person is most

Five states have not passed on the matter. Seven states, of which Florida is one, remain in the minority, adhering to the rule denying recovery. See generally T.A. Borowski, Jr., Comment, No Liability for the Wrongful Death of Unborn Children - The Florida Legislature Refuses to Protect the Unborn, 16 Fla.St.U.L.Rev. 835, (1988), 84 A.L.R.3d 411, 422-425 §§3[a]-3[b] (1978 and Supp. 1994).

<sup>7&</sup>quot;The previous observation of the Florida Supreme Court in Stokes v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., that there exists a number of equally strong and persuasive decisions denying recovery for the wrongful death of a viable unborn child is of questionable validity since the weight of modern authority appears to favor recovery for the wrongful death of a child in utero". Donald L. Gibson, The Conditional Liability Rule - A Viable Alternative for the Wrongful Death of a Stillborn Child, 28 U.Fl.L.Rev. 187, 197 (1975).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Fla. Stat. §768.19-768.27(1989).

consistent with current human experience and knowledge concerning fetal development and the ability of the fetus to survive independently of the mother. In short, numerous foreign courts have dispelled the notions upon which our Supreme Court based its holdings in <u>Stern</u>, <u>Duncan</u> and <u>Hernandez</u>.

Young v. St. Vincent's Medical Center, Inc., 20 FLW D1020 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995).

Thirty-four states have judicially recognized such a cause of action. These include Arizona, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania and

Alabama: Eich v. Town of Gulf Shores, 293 Ala. 95, 300 So.2d 354 (1974); Arizona: Summerfield v. Superior Court, 144 Ariz. 467, 698 P.2d 712 (1985); Connecticut: Gorke v. LeClerc, 23 Conn. Supp 256, 181 A.2d 448 (Super. Ct. 1962); Delaware: Worgan v. Greggo & Ferrara, Inc., 50 Del. 258, 128 A.2d 557 (1956); District of Columbia: Simmons v. Howard Univ., 323 F. Supp. 529 (D.D.C. 1971); Georgia: Porter v. Lassiter, 91 Ga. App. 712, 87 S.E.2d 100 (Ct. App. 1955); Idaho: Volk v. Baldazo, 103 Idaho 570, 651 P.2d 11 (1982); Illinois: Chrisafogeorgis v. Brandenberg, 55 Ill. 2d 368, 304 N.E.2d 88 (1973); Ill Rev. Stat. Ch. 70, para. 2.2 (1985); Indiana: Britt v. Sears, 150 Ind. App. 487, 277 N.E.2d 20 (Ct. App. 1971); Kansas: Hale v. Manion, 189 Kan. 143, 368 P.2d 1 (1962); Kentucky: Mitchell v. Couch, 285 S.W.2d 901 (Ky. 1955); Maryland: State ex rel Odham v. Sherman, 234 Md. 179, 198 A.2d 71 (1964); Massachusetts: Mone v. Greyhound Lines, 368 Mass. 354, 331 N.E.2d 916 (1975); Michigan: O'Neill v. Morse, 385 Mich. App. 130, 188 N.W.2d 785 (Ct. App. 1971); Minnesota: Verkennes v. Corniea, 229 Minn. 365, 38 N.W.2d 838 (1949); Mississippi: Rainey v. Horn, 221 Miss. 269, 72 So.2d 434 (1954); Missouri: O'Grady v. Brown, 654 S.W.2d 904 (Mo. 1983); Nevada: White v. Yup, 85 Nev. 527, 458 P.2d 617 (1969); New Hampshire: Poliquin v. MacDonald, 101 N.H. 104, 135 A.2d 249 (1957); New Mexico: Salazar v. St. Vincent Hosp., 95 N.M. 150, 619 P.2d 826 (Ct. App. 1980); North Carolina: DiDonato v. Wortman, 320 N.C. 423, 358 S.E.2d 489 (1987); North Dakota: Hopkins v. McBane, 359 N.W.2d 862 (N.D.1984); Ohio: Werling v. Sandy 17 Ohio St. 3d 45, 476 N.E.2d 1053 (1985); Oklahoma: Evans v. Olson, 550 P.2d 924 (Okla. 1976); Oregon: Libbee v. Permanente Clinic, 268 Or. 258, 518 P.2d 636 (1974); Pennsylvania: Amadio v. Levin, 509 Pa. 199, 501 A.2d 1085 (1985); Rhode Island: Presley v. Newport Hosp., 117 R.I. 177, 365 A.2d 748 (1976); South Carolina: Fowler v. Woodward, 244 S.C. 608, 138 S.E.2d 42 (1964); South Dakota: Farley v. Mount Marty Hosp. Ass'n, 387 N.W.2d 42 (S.D. 1986); S.D. CODIFIED LAWS ANN. §21-5-1 (1987); Tennessee: TENN. CODE ANN. §20-5-106 (1980); Vermont: Vaillancourt v. Medical Center Hosp., 139 Vt. 138, 425 A.2d 92 (1980); Washington: Moen v. Hanson, 85 Wash. 2d 597, 537 P.2d 266 (1975); West Virginia: Baldwin v. Butcher, 155 W.Va. 431, 184 S.E.2d 428 (1971); Wisconsin: Kwaterski v. State

New Hampshire, which overruled longstanding decisions to the contrary. See generally, Summerfield, 698 P.2d at 712; Amadio, 501 A.2d at 1085; Mone, 331 N.E.2d at 916; Poliquin, 135 A.2d at 249. Three states have recognized the cause of action legislatively. See Footnote 9. Five states have not addressed the issue but arguably would be persuaded by the logic that has prevailed in the above delineated thirty-seven states. Florida can take comfort with only six other states which cling to an old and outdated rule.

Interestingly, not one state's legislature has redrafted its legislation to alter or change a judicial interpretation of "person". Not one legislature has declared a viable, unborn child not to be a person pursuant to its wrongful death statute (including Florida). Standing with the majority is not a judicial goal in and of itself, but when the rule embraced by the majority best serves justice and is based on sound public and legal policy, it should be adopted. Summerfield at 722.

In <u>Mone</u>, the Massachusetts Supreme Court held an unborn, viable fetus is "a person for purposes of our wrongful death statute." <u>Mone</u> at 920. In that case, a viable 8 1/2 month fetus was injured in a car/bus collision. The mother and child were taken to an emergency room. During surgery, the unborn child was found to be dead, the uterus and placenta having been lacerated. Id. at 917.

Despite having considered the same issue on numerous occasions, the Massachusetts Supreme Court took jurisdiction and

Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co., 34 Wis.2d 14, 148 N.W.2d 107 (1967).

overruled its previous holdings. <u>Id</u>. The court held: (1) there was a sound body of precedent in support; (2) it was unnecessary for the court to wait for a legislative change; and (3) damages would be no more speculative than those for the wrongful death of a child who had lived only an hour or a day. <u>See id</u>. The court found "a clear majority of jurisdictions having considered the question have chosen viability over live birth as the determinative factor for deciding whether a right of action for wrongful death will be allowed". Id. at 918.

The Massachusetts Court reasoned that requiring a live birth produced illogical results. Id. at 920. For instance, if a tortfeasor inflicts enough trauma to kill the unborn child, the tortfeasor has no civil liability. But if the tortfeasor inflicts less trauma, allowing the unborn child to survive, there would be civil liability. Likewise, if a tortfeasor fatally injures the unborn child immediately, there would be no liability. But if the tortfeasor fatally injures the child and yet death is protracted by a few hours or even a few minutes beyond birth, a claim can succeed. "[T]he graver the harm, the better the chance of immunity". Mone at 920, quoting to Todd v. Sandidge Constr. Co., 341 F.2d 75, 77 (4th Cir. 1964). The Court concluded "[w]hile we recognize that 'a ruling fixing survival as the determinant, rather than viability . . . has the appeal of simplicity, 'we agree with the court in Todd that such a rule 'might aid the judiciary but hardly justice'". Id.

The Pennsylvania Supreme Court in Amadio expressly overruled its precedents and held there was a right of recovery for the wrongful death of stillborn children. Id. Pennsylvania Court expressly held an unborn child is ". . . an individual with the right to be free of prenatal injury". Id. at 1087. After analyzing Pennsylvania's previous construction, the Court found limiting the recovery to children born alive was too It perpetuated illogical results making it ". . . more narrow. profitable for the defendant to kill the plaintiff than to scratch Amadio at 1088, quoting to Prosser Law of Torts, §127 (4th Ed. 1971). The court felt these actions should proceed to trial where the ". . . orderly production of evidence by the adversaries [will] prove or disprove causation, injury and damages in each case." Amadio at 1087.

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