THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 1 1995

FILED

SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By ___

Chief Deputy Clerk

GWENDOLYN GOLDEN YOUNG, as Personal Representative of)	
WILLISHA GOLDEN YOUNG, deceased,)	
)	Case No. 85,707
Plaintiff/Petitioner,		
)	District Court of Appeal,
v.		First District-No. 93-2005
)	
ST. VINCENT'S MEDICAL CENTER,		ON APPEAL FROM:
INC., d/b/a ST. VINCENT'S)	Circuit Court, Fourth
MEDICAL CENTER; and/or d/b/a	·	Judicial Circuit, Duval
FAMILY MEDICAL CENTER,		County, Florida; Case No. 92-08897-CA, Division CV-I
Defendant/Respondent.)	,
)	

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT, ST. VINCENT'S MEDICAL CENTER, INC.

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

In <u>Stokes</u>, the Supreme Court held that the phrase "minor child" did not include an "unborn child". <u>Stokes</u>, 213 So.2d 695 (Fla. 1968). Four years later, the legislature rewrote the state's wrongful death laws incorporating multiple statutes into a single one. Knowing that the term "minor child" had been interpreted to include <u>only</u> children "born alive," to permit recovery for the death of an unborn child, the new law would have to either exclude the term "minor child" or expressly redefine it to include stillborn children. The legislature did neither. Rather, it left the term in the damages section of the new Act effectively permitting recovery

of damages only for parents of minor children, i.e., children born alive. § 768.21(1) and (4), Florida Statutes.

It is an established rule of statutory construction that when the legislature reenacts statutory language previously construed or interpreted by the Court, <u>it intends to adopt the</u> <u>interpretation</u>. <u>Gulfstream Park Racing Assn., Inc. v. Dept.</u> <u>of Bus. Reg.</u>, 441 So.2d 627, 628 (Fla. 1983). The <u>Stern</u> Court expressly applied this rule and reached the following inescapable conclusion:

> The legislature is presumed to know the existing law when it enacts a statute. And it is presumed that the legislature acquainted with was the judicial construction of former laws on the subject concerning which some statute is enacted. It follows that where a <u>provision has</u> received definite a judicial construction, the subsequent <u>reenactment</u> of that provision by the legislature may be held to amount to legislative approval of the judicial construction.

> The mere reading of <u>the section regarding</u> <u>damages clearly indicates</u>, on the basis of logic, that <u>the legislature did not</u> <u>intend to create a cause of action for a</u> <u>stillborn child</u>.

> > <u>Stern</u>, 348 So.2d at 308 (Fla. 1977) (emphasis added).

The legislative history of the statute since the 1977 <u>Stern</u> decision confirms that the Legislature never intended to

permit this cause of action. Since that time, this Court has reaffirmed live-birth requirement the on two separate occasions. Duncan v. Flynn, 358 So.2d 178 (Fla. 1978);Hernandez v. Garwood, 390 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1985). The district courts of appeal have likewise announced in numerous decisions that, <u>unless altered</u>, the wrongful death act does not include an unborn fetus within its coverage. Despite these clear and unequivocal constructions of the statute, the legislature has taken <u>no action</u> altering the statute or implying any dissatisfaction with the current state of the law.

2. The legislature has refused to amend the Act to permit recovery for the unborn.

There have been recent legislative efforts to amend the statute to permit recovery for an unborn child but all have failed. In 1980, after the Court's rulings on the issue in <u>Stern and Duncan</u>, Representative Bush introduced a bill in the Florida House of Representatives to permit wrongful death actions for the death of an "unborn child." See Exhibit 1, attached. The express purpose of House Bill 1342 was to include an unborn child within the intent of the Act. The Judiciary Committee considered the bill but it died on the calendar for lack of support.

In 1988, bills were filed in both the House of Representatives and the Senate that would have amended

Sections 768.19 and 768.21 to include unborn children.² House Bill 153 was filed January 7, 1988 and Senate Bill 245 was filed February 9, 1988. See Exhibits 2 and 3 respectively. Hearings were held on the Senate version with testimony for and against given by multiple witnesses, including petitioner's Amicus in this case, the Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers.

Both bills failed. HB 153 was defeated in the judiciary committee. The Senate bill, while passing committee, did not have enough support to reach a floor vote. See, T.A. Borowski, Jr., Comment, No liability for the wrongful death of unborn children - The Florida Legislature refuses to protect the unborn. 16 Fla. St. U. L. Rev., 835, 839 (1988).

In the 1989 legislative session, House Bill 174 and Senate Bill 996 were introduced. See Exhibits 4 and 5, respectively. Both bills were identical to HB 153 introduced the year before. Again both died for lack of legislative support. The Senate staff for the committees which considered SB 996 reported to the committees that the bill would expand the Wrongful Death Act to permit a cause of action for unborn

² The house and senate bills were originally identical but the senate bill was amended in committee. HB 153 would have defined "person" and "minor child" to include unborn children while SB 245 would have added the term "fetus" to Sections 768.19 and 768.21.

children thereby reversing the result in <u>Stern v. Miller</u>. See Exhibit 6 attached.³

The failure of attempts by a minority of lawmakers to redefine "person" in 1980, 1988 and 1989 to include a fetus confirms the legislature's true intent. <u>American Bankers Life</u> <u>Assurance Co. of Fla. v. Williams</u>, 212 So.2d 777, 778 (Fla. 1st DCA 1968). It can no longer be seriously questioned that the legislature never intended for a viable but stillborn child to be covered by Section 768.19, Florida Statutes.

C. The common law of Florida does not recognize or permit a cause of action for the wrongful death of an unborn person.

The Petitioner contends in Section IIB of her brief that "Wrongful death actions are a fundamental part of the common law" and that the Court is free to recognize such an action in favor of the unborn, citing cases addressing the common law of other states. Brief for Petitioner, pp. 24-30. Regardless of the common law elsewhere, the Florida Supreme Court has always held that the common law of this state does not provide a remedy for wrongful death outside the statute:

³ These staff analysis and economic impact reports are public records available from the Florida State Archives and may be considered by this Court in construing statutes on appeal. <u>Ellsworth v. Ins. Co. of North America</u>, 508 So.2d 395, 398 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

An action for wrongful death is a creature of statute, unknown to the common law. If the respondents have a cause of action it must be founded on Section 768.19, Florida Statutes.

<u>Stern</u>, 348 So.2d at 304, 305 (Fla. 1977) (emphasis added).

See also, <u>Stokes</u>, 213 So.2d at 699-700 (Fla. 1968); <u>Moragne</u>, 211 So.2d at 163-164 (Fla. 1968); <u>L. & N. R.R. Co. v. Jones</u>, 45 Fla. 407, 34 So. 246. (1903).

This Court in <u>Stern</u> refused to recognize such a right after carefully considering the same arguments raised by the petitioner in this case. The petitioner cites the case of <u>Mone v. Greyhound Lines, Inc.</u>, 331 N.E.2d 916 (Mass. 1975) which found a "common law" right to recover in Massachusetts. This Court was fully aware of the <u>Mone</u> decision and in fact cited the decision in footnote four of the <u>Stern</u> opinion issued in 1977. Further, the Court expressly referenced the adherence of eleven states to the position that the common law prohibited recovery absent a live birth. <u>Stern</u>, at 305-306. It is apparent that this Court has already considered the <u>argument</u> that some non-statutory right of recovery might exist but <u>rejected</u> the existence of such a right in Florida.

To support the claim that a common law action for wrongful death exists in Florida, petitioner relies primarily on the United States Supreme Court opinion of <u>Moragne v. State</u> <u>Marine Lines, Inc.</u>, 389 U.S. 375 (1970). This case does not support her argument for many reasons. First, the U.S. Supreme Court did not address the common law of Florida in its opinion. Second, the statutory law on wrongful death and the common law in each state is different because each has been shaped by different judicial precedent, legislative intent, statutory language and constitutional provisions making its application to Florida of little help. Third, the states which petitioner claims recognized such a common law right of recovery did so, in part, because the will of their legislatures was either unclear or apparently in favor of such a right unlike the clear legislative intent in Florida which is to the contrary.

The U.S. Supreme Court opinion in <u>Moragne</u> concerned remedies available under federal maritime law for a wrongful death on Florida State territorial waters. <u>Id</u>. at 378. The plaintiff sought recovery under Florida's Wrongful Death Act which claim was evaluated by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Moragne v. State Marine Lines, Inc.</u>, 211 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1968).⁴ The Florida Supreme Court held that the Florida Death by Wrongful Act Statute did not permit recovery for the plaintiff's death.

⁴ The case reached the Florida Supreme Court when the federal appeals court certified the question of whether the Florida Death by Wrongful Act statute recognized the cause of action alleged. The Florida Supreme Court ruled on this question before the case was appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court.

When the U.S. Supreme Court opinion in Moragne and this Court's companion Moragne opinion are read together they refute, rather than support, petitioner's arguments in this case. First, the U.S. Supreme Court in Moragne did not hold that a cause of action for wrongful death existed at common law in Florida. It found only that such an action was not barred under the common law of England as it existed in 1776. In light of this, the U.S. Supreme Court found that it was permitted to recognize such a cause of action within federal common law. Interestingly, the reason the U.S. Court gave for recognizing such a right in the federal common law was because every state in the union had adopted, by statute, wrongful death laws. Moragne, 398 U.S. at 391. Surely the 50 state legislatures, including Florida's, would not have adopted such laws if they believed the right to exist at common law.

On the other hand, this Court noted in its <u>Moragne</u> opinion that a cause of action for wrongful death was not recognized at common law in Florida, but was "a totally new right of action" created by statute. <u>Moragne</u>, 211 So.2d at 163-164. While the U.S. Supreme Court may have found a right of action to exist in <u>federal</u> common law, it did not and could not decide whether such a right existed in the common law of Florida as that question had already been addressed and settled by this Court.

Next, the Florida Supreme Court in Moragne was asked to reject prior decisions on the issue, align itself with "the great weight of authority" in other jurisdictions and thus permit the wrongful death action alleged as within the Florida Moraqne, 211 So.2d at 164. Wrongful Death Act. The Court rejected this argument noting that the decisions from other states were based on statutes written and interpreted differently than Florida's Wrongful Death Act. <u>Id.</u> at 165. One obvious danger in basing a change in Florida law on interpretations of the wrongful death statute in another state is that each state is likely to have based its current law on factors unique to that state including statutes with different language, different judicial constructions of the language and different legislative histories and intents.

The petitioner in this case makes the same appeal arguing that "holdings from a majority of other jurisdictions now recognize wrongful death actions to be of common law origin." Petitioner's brief at p. 24. In fact, the vast majority of states that have permitted recovery for the death of an unborn child have relied on the particular language of their state's wrongful death statute and judicial precedents and <u>not</u> on any newly "discerned" common law right.⁵ Florida's wrongful death

⁵ Of the three states which petitioner claims based recovery on their state's "common law," only the Massachusetts Supreme Court so held. Only the concurrence in the Pennsylvania Supreme Court's <u>Amadio</u> opinion relied on a

statute and precedent should not be uprooted merely because other states have changed their wrongful death law in response to their own unique judicial precedent and legislative intent.

Finally, in <u>Moragne</u> this Court stressed the importance of legislative history and intent in deciding the limits of the right to recover for wrongful death in Florida. In the face of clear legislative intent to the contrary, the Court held that it was prohibited from recognizing a new right of recovery:

> Finally, we note that the Legislature lost no time in amending the Wrongful Death Act following the decision of this Court in the Whiteley case, supra, 55 So.2d 730 (it was amended at the next succeeding session of the Legislature), yet more than fifteen years have elapsed since the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals held in the Graham case, supra, 206 F.2d 223, that the Act was not applicable to a death action based on the maritime tort of 'unseaworthiness,' and it has been more than eight years since this holding was reaffirmed in the Emerson case, *supra*, 282 F.2d 271. The Legislature has not seen fit to act in response to such decisions.

> In all of these circumstances, it is our opinion that <u>to hold that</u>

[&]quot;common law" right of recovery. 501 A.2d 1085, 1096-1097 (Pa. 1985) (Zappala, J., concurring). In the Arizona Supreme Court's <u>Summerfield</u> opinion, the court concluded that the state's <u>statute</u> and judicial precedent had combined to permit them to recognize a cause of action "with common-law attributes." 698 P.2d 712, 718 (Ariz. 1985). The court expressly refused to conclude whether or not such an action existed at common law. <u>Id</u>.

<u>'unseaworthin</u>	ess′	is	wi	<u>thin</u>	the
contemplation	of our	Wro	ngful		
would be	tantamo	<u>unt</u>	to	judio	<u>cial</u>
legislation;	and th	is,	of	course,	<u>is</u>
beyond our co	<u>nstituti</u>	lonal	<u>powe</u>	<u>er</u> .	

Moragne, 211 So.2d at 167 (Fla. 1968) (emphasis added).

Since the Court's rulings in <u>Stern</u>, <u>Duncan and Hernandez</u>, 15 years have passed without a change to the law. Despite the introduction of numerous bills that would have permitted recovery, all have failed. Given this legislative history, to hold that a right of recovery exists outside our Wrongful Death Act would be the same type of judicial legislation this Court rejected in <u>Moragne</u>.

The Court has rejected other requests that it "recognize" a common law cause of action where the legislature's intent is to the contrary. <u>Bankston v. Brennan</u>, 507 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 1987). In <u>Bankston</u>, the Court was asked to permit either a statutory or common law cause of action against a social host who served alcohol to minors. The Court first concluded that no such cause existed by statute and that the legislature had no intent to create such a cause. With respect to the request that it create a common law right of recovery, this Court refused. Noting the legislature's demonstrated ability to deal with the issue and the legislative intent against creating a new cause of action the Court held:

Petitioner's final argument is that if this Court concludes that Section 768.125 does not apply to social hosts, we should recognize a common law cause of action in favor of similarly situated plaintiffs. We decline. We do not hold that we lack the power to do so, but we do hold that when the legislature has actively entered a particular field and has clearly indicated its ability to deal with such a policy question, the more prudent course is for this Court to defer to the legislative branch.

<u>Bankston</u>, 507 So.2d at 1387 (Fla. 1987) (emphasis added).

As with liability for serving liquor, the legislature created the remedy for wrongful death and actively entered the field regulating the scope of that remedy with more than 20 amendments to the wrongful death laws since their adoption. In the legislative sessions of 1980, 1988 and 1989, the legislature rejected the exact expansion of the law requested by the petitioner in this case. Given the history of legislative action in the field of wrongful death, this Court must deny the petitioner's request that it create a cause of action consistently rejected by the legislature.

The California Supreme Court considered the same argument that it recognize a common law right to recover for the wrongful death of an unborn child. Applying the same reasoning of this Court in <u>Bankston</u>, the California Supreme Court refused:

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